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scienter, that is, with an intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud or with a severe reckless disregard
for the truth.

103. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Tennstar, Greenlee, Steward and
Underwood, directly and indirectly, have violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §

240.10b-5].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Commission respectfully prays for:
E
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law pursuant to Rule 52 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, finding that the Defendants named herein committed the violations alleged herein.
I
Permanent injunctions enjoining Defendants Tennstar, Greenlee, Stewart and Underwood,
their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of the order of injunction, by personal service or
otherwise, and each of them, whether as principals or as aiders and abettors, from violating, directly
or indirectly, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)], and Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] promulgated

thereunder.

I11.
Permanent injunctions enjoining Defendants Greenlee, Stewart and Underwood, directly or

indirectly, from participating in the issuance, purchase, offer or sale of any security, including, but
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not limited to, the issuance, purchase, offer or sale of securities through any entity they own or
control, excluding purchases and sales of securities for their own personal accounts.
Iv.

An order directing Defendants Tennstar, Greenlee, Stewart and Underwood to pay
disgorgement of all ill-gotten gains or unjust enrichment and to pay prejudgment interest on the
amount ordered to be disgorged, to effect the remedial purposes of the federal securities laws.

V.

An order pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section
21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)] imposing civil penalties against Defendants
Tennstar, Greenlee, Stewart and Underwood.

VL

Issue an Order that retains jurisdiction over this action in order to implement and carry out
the terms of all orders and decrees that may have been entered or to entertain any suitable
application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

VIL
Grant such other and further relief as this Court may deem just, equitable, and appropriate in

connection with the enforcement of the federal securities laws and for the protection of investors.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

/s/Edward G. Sullivan
Edward G. Sullivan
Senior Trial Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 691140

{s/Brian M. Basinger
Brian M. Basinger

Senior Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 595901
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COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF

U. S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
950 East Paces Ferry Road, N.E., Suite 900

Atlanta, Georgia 30326

(404) 842-7612 (Sullivan)

(404) 842-5748 (Basinger)

sullivane@sec.gov

basingerb@sec.gov

/s/). Thomas Clarkson

J. Thomas Clarkson

Assistant United States Attorney
Georgia Bar No. 656069

LOCAL COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
Deputy Chief, Civil Division

United States Attorney’s Office
Southern District of Georgia

22 Barnard Street, 3™ Floor

Savannah, Georgia 31401

(912) 201-2601
Thomas.Clarkson@usdoj.gov
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